
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

TRUSTEES REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Registered number: 2877400 

Charity number: 1030623 

 

  



 

 

 

 
TRUSTEES' REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 

 
 

 

CONTENTS 
 

 Page 
  

  
Trustees' report 

 

3–18 

 
Reference and administrative details of the charity,  

its trustees and advisers 

 

19 

Independent auditors' report 

 

20–23 

Statement of financial activities 

 

24 

Balance sheet 

 

25 

Cash flow statement 

 

26 

Notes to the financial statements 
 

27–43 

  



 

BRITISH PHARMACOLOGICAL SOCIETY  
 

TRUSTEES' REPORT (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 

 
Page 3 

 
OBJECTIVES, STRATEGY AND ACTIVITIES 

 
Charitable object 

The charitable object of the British Pharmacological Society (“the Society”) is to promote and 

advance pharmacology (including without limitation clinical pharmacology). 
 

Public benefit  
Pharmacology is at the forefront of our fight 

to help ensure everyone can live healthy 
lives for longer. We use the term 

pharmacology to encompass all areas of the 
science of drugs and medicine and we 

recognise that pharmacologists work across 

multi-disciplinary boundaries. Pharmacology 
makes a unique contribution to research to 

develop new drugs, and to improving the use 
of existing drugs for better patient 

outcomes. 
 

The British Pharmacological Society's 
purpose is to promote and advance all 

disciplines of pharmacology in the discovery, 

development and use of medicines. 
 

The annual objectives are designed to 
support the Society in the delivery of this 

purpose, and in turn, they bring advances in 
science, medicine and healthcare with the 

following public benefits: 
• Supporting the research and 

application of pharmacology by 

providing opportunities for 
pharmacologists to present and publish 

their research to their peers, fostering 
collaboration and building connections 

globally in drug discovery and 
development. 

• Improving clinical practice for the 
benefit of patients through the 

assessment and training of healthcare 

professionals and medical students. 
• Informing public policy on medicines, 

dosage and therapeutics. 
• Educating the general public and 

school students with a range of 
engagement activities. 

 
The Society supports its members by 

offering access to scientific meetings, 

networking events, opportunities for career 
development, access to journals, bursaries, 

education and training, and being part of a 
community. This enables Members to deliver 

better science, leading to public benefit. 

 
The Trustees confirm that they have 

complied with the duty in Section 17 of the 
Charities Act 2011 to have due regards to 

the Charity Commission's general guidance 
on public benefit "Charities and Public 

Benefit". 

 
New Strategy 2022 - 2024 

The Society launched its new three-year 
strategy in January 2022. The strategy, 

developed by its Trustees in collaboration 
with its staff and members builds on strong 

foundations and keeps the needs of its 
community at the heart of its future. Our 

revitalised and bold approach for the next 

three years is driven by new values and was 
created amid the COVID-19 pandemic. The 

strategy focusses on raising even greater 
awareness of the impact of our discipline, 

bringing pharmacologists more closely 
together, and supporting and celebrating 

their scientific advances for the health of 
humans and animals.  

 

It followed a turbulent two years for global 
health, during which Society members 

around the world actively contributed to 
saving lives and reducing the effects of 

COVID-19. But though this has been a 
challenging period for science and medicine, 

the Society’s plans for 2022-2024 seek to 
use the renewed profile of pharmacology and 

drug discovery to further improve the 

understanding of their benefits to the wider 
community. 

 
The 3-year strategy sets out our strategic 

goals in three broad areas: 
• PROGRESSING OUR PHARMACOLOGY 

PRIORITIES 
• CELEBRATING AND CONNECTING OUR 

COMMUNITY 

• SUSTAINING OUR SOCIETY. 
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Our approach to delivering against these three broad goals is set out within the strategy and 
summarised in the table below.  

 

Progressing our pharmacology priorities 

What we will achieve: 

• We will advance the discipline of pharmacology, communicating its beneficial impact on 

animal and human health 
• We will bring pharmacologists together to make advances in priority research areas  

• We will work with our community and stakeholders to make progress on issues that 

matter 

 
How we will get there: 

• By supporting training, workforce development, and multi-professional partnerships  
• By driving an innovative programme of commissioned and member-led content 

• By leveraging our strengths in the production and delivery of quality content, to 

disseminate cutting-edge science worldwide 
• By curating, and where necessary expanding, content into thematic priorities, which are 

joined-up across policy, publishing, education, training, and meetings 

 
 

Celebrating and connecting our community 

What we will achieve: 

• We will foster and celebrate a diverse pharmacological community, flexing our provision to 

meet its changing needs  
• We will anticipate the changing needs of the pharmacological community, recognising and 

supporting all individuals, at all stages of their careers  
• We will dismantle barriers to inclusion if we identify any within the Society  

 
How we will get there: 

• By harmonising our education, training, and engagement projects in collaboration with our 

community across all settings, by aligning them to our thematic priorities  
• By focusing on removing barriers to inclusion and building equity throughout the Society  

• By embracing digital opportunities to grow membership and expand engagement 

• Inspiring the new generation by articulating the breadth and depth of pharmacology 

 
 

Sustaining our Society 

What we will achieve: 

• We will secure our future to support the next generation of pharmacologists and to 

continue to champion the importance of the discipline  
• We will build our financial and structural resilience with sustainable decision frameworks, 

diversified funding streams and robust governance 
 

How we will get there: 

• By developing and adapting our publishing portfolio, ensuring we provide a place to 

publish for all pharmacology researchers  
• By building BPS Assessment Ltd into the premier assessment and learning business for 

prescribing skills  
• By adopting best practice environmental, social and governance policies and practices 

• By pursuing ethical income opportunities and developing targets to reach Net Zero 

 
The Society’s Officers and Staff worked to deliver a range of annual objectives that link directly to the 
strategy. The annual objectives together with the activities undertaken, results and impact of those 

activities are listed in the “Objectives, Performance, Achievements and Impact” section of this report. 
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OBJECTIVES, PERFORMANCE, ACHIEVEMENTS AND IMPACT 2022 
 

The Trustees and Staff agreed a series of annual objectives for the Society for 2022 aligned to the 
2022-2024 strategic plan. Progress was reported to Trustees on a regular basis throughout the year 

to celebrate success and identify areas of challenge. Members worked with the Staff team through 

committees, advisory group and working groups to progress all areas of the Society's work and 
significant progress was made throughout the year.  

 
All objectives aligned to the strategic goals and objectives set out in the organisational strategy, this 

new approach ensured that the impact of the Society’s work can be communicated effectively to our 
members and the wider community over the current strategy period. 

 

Progressing our pharmacology priorities 

Strengthening the foundations of clinical pharmacology through supporting the training, 

workforce development, and multi-professional partnerships that enable the safe and 
effective development and use of medicines.  

• Working with partners in the Clinical Pharmacology Skills Alliance and NHS England & 
Improvement, continue to build the value and impact case for investing in UK clinical 

pharmacology.  
• Building on prior campaigns, sustain and grow engagement with clinical pharmacology as a 

career, growing the pipeline in line with the CPSA ten-year workforce strategy.  

• Working with the Medical Schools Council ensure that the PSA is secured for future delivery 
to Medical Students and Foundation Doctors.  

 
Bringing the pharmacological community together through an innovative programme of 

commissioned and member-led content, online and in-person.  
• Build a strategic plan for our 2022 - 2023 events schedule including intended aims and 

priorities of each event that balances both the Society's charitable and commercial aims.  
• Build momentum and excitement for WCP2023 through careful planning, ensuring key 

milestones are met and the Executive's vision for the meeting is adopted.  

• Working with our partners expand our reach to new or under-served communities through 
the provision of and delivery of co-organised meetings.  

• Secure opportunities to partner with our sister societies to showcase pharmacology on a 
global scale.  

 
Curating, and where necessary expanding, content into thematic priorities, which are 

joined-up across policy, publishing, education, training, and meetings.  
• Develop a plan to identify and connect ideas and activities into thematic priorities which can 

be delivered through policy work, website pages, awareness days and meetings, 

implementing steps via communication channels where possible.  
• Drive and coordinate impactful activity on, and approach to, thematic priorities, including 

our process for consolidating and creating links across existing and emerging priorities  
 

Leveraging our strengths in the production and delivery of quality content to disseminate 
cutting edge science to a global audience.  

• Build and expand our digital meeting offering including hybrid meetings and BPS Live  
• Prioritise commercial partnerships that can amplify the quality and reach of our content to 

new audiences. 

 

Impact statement 

The Society launched a joint report with the Royal College of Physicians, Personalised prescribing: 
using pharmacogenomics to improve patient outcomes in March 2022. This report attracted 

significant media impact, over 600 news articles across 36 different countries and was utilised to 
engage Parliamentary support during Evidence Week where the report and briefing was shared with 

61 MPs and peers.  
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Clinical Pharmacology Week (10th-14th October): had activities driven through social media this 
year - aiming to spread the message about clinical pharmacology, and the role it plays in 

healthcare. This included sharing video content with interviews from clinical member 
pharmacologists working in various fields (from NHS to Industry) and promotion of the new clinical 

pharmacology apprenticeship. A social media toolkit was shared via our member networks; utilised 
notably by the University of Liverpool, who used the branding from the toolkit to create cards to 

promote the work of their own clinical pharmacologists.  

 
The Society strengthened its partnership working by jointly hosting two successful partner meetings 

with ELRIG on 'New Drug Modalities' in July 2022 and The Physiological Society on 'Lungs: More 
than gas exchange' meeting held in November 2022. Through these joint ventures the Society 

provided a platform for our members to share their science across disciplines and share, debate 
and discuss cutting edge research and training methodologies. 

 
The Society’s new principles for inclusive implementation of the curriculum were ratified by Council 

and shared widely through publication, sessions at Pharmacology 2022 and through the educator 

network. They were endorsed by IUPHAR and published by PR&P. Through the Education and 
Training Committee’s commitment to inclusive pharmacology as a priority area, they commissioned 

a grant call resulting in the award of three grants focusing on inclusivity. 
 

Commercial partnerships web page launched with case studies of completed partnerships to 
encourage and bring to life opportunities. The World Congress of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology is 

a key event in the 2023 calendar, much of the preparation work was undertaken in 2022, including 
the launch of Abstracts and registration and conversations with partners to build a vibrant and 

engaging global meeting. Working with the Congress leadership, Professor David Webb and 

Professor Amrita Ahluwalia has ensured the scientific programme is exemplary and over 1000 
abstracts were submitted by December 2022. 

 

 
 

 

Celebrating and connecting our community 

Focusing on removing barriers to inclusion, building equity and accessibility into every 
entry, progression, and decision point within the Society. 

• Work to empower committees and teams to collaborate by removing barriers and monitoring 

progress across our activities 
• Develop a consistent approach to governance, recruitment and organisational policies across 

our activities 
• Develop our approach to being an inclusive employer, evolving and living a positive culture 

• Expand and connect each journal’s EDI action plan to generate joint approach across the 
Society’s publications, in line with latest industry best practice and with the needs of our 

community. 
• Review of pay policy to ensure it is fair, equitable and competitive 

 

Harmonising our education, training and engagement projects in collaboration with our 
community, by aligning them to our thematic priorities and taking account of the needs 

of those within industry, academia and clinical settings. 
• Develop a publishing plan for increasing industry engagement and contributions to our 

Journals. 
• Building on prior work, further develop our education and engagement communities 

(including Ambassadors) by providing opportunities for networking and shared learning 
throughout the year. 

• Develop an integrated learning pathways approach to education and training, delivering 

tangible activities for the pharmacology community 
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Embracing digital opportunities so that we can extend our reach, grow membership, and 
expand our communities of engagement. 

• Developing a Digital Working Group which will allow all staff a space where they can discuss 
the development and delivery of content via existing and new digital channels. 

• Ensure that the new contact relationship management system (CRM) is established as our 
principal knowledge hub post go-live in 2022. 

• Embed and refine processes to facilitate hybrid and digital Council and all governance 

related meetings to aid inclusive decision-making irrelevant of the ability to travel. 
 
Sharing stories that articulate the breadth and depth of pharmacology, to represent and 

inspire the next generation of pharmacologists. 
• Develop a coordinated approach to curating and sharing a diverse set of member profiles 

and stories that are tailored to key audiences with the aim of supporting member 

engagement with the Society, careers opportunities and pharmacology more broadly. 
• Further develop Pharmacology Matters and the Society's blog to amplify the depth and 

breadth of pharmacology, using it as a vehicle to showcase the work and impact of our 
members. 

 

Impact statement 

Committee and staff leads collaborated and contributed to a discussion paper of current inclusive 

work and successes (including Grants, Awards, Committee membership, and Society membership). 
An action plan template framework was developed, and all core committees discussed this in the 

2022 cycle, embedding this into core process. Committees will develop targeted action plans in 
2023 and continue to share best practice and learnings to build capacity and understanding. 

 
Following approval by the Engagement Committee, a brand-new network was launched on the BPS 

Community platform - the Engagement Network. As well as being a space to share engagement 
training opportunities and tips, the platform is used to promote the new Engagement webinars - the 

first of which was held in October, following excellent feedback these will continue to be hosted 

throughout 2023. 
 

Five BPS training workshops have been successfully delivered on the following topics: Genomics in 
Drug Discovery and Development, Statistics, PROTACS, Pharmacology and Drug Discovery and 

Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics. Pharmacology and Drug Discovery eLearning was 
developed using the platform and pre-course learning was sent out to the delegates who attended 

the Statistics training, this has been built into the eLearning platform and can be used for future 
sessions. 

 

The new CRM went live on 30 September 2022 and will provide a firm foundation for achievement 
of efficiency, effectiveness and service improvements. 

 
Using our Blog, we have developed short articles and stories to inspire and educate. One highlight 

has been the development of our Unmet Health Needs series in the latter half of the year. 
Pharmacology Matters is commissioning content related to meetings, and to wider 

pharmacological/societal topics, for example Pharmacology in the Metaverse, the most popular 
article of the August 2022 issue. We have recruited a new deputy editor, their clinical expertise will 

broaden the scope of Pharmacology Matters, increasing our reach and relevancy.  

 
Member numbers declined in 2022 after two years of growth and reaching in their highest-ever 

levels in 2021. The reduction was mostly due to a fall in the number of Undergraduate Student 
members. 

 
 

 
 



 

BRITISH PHARMACOLOGICAL SOCIETY  
 

TRUSTEES' REPORT (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 

 
Page 8 

 

 
Voting Members are:  
Honorary Fellows, Fellows, Retired Members & Fellows, Members and Early Career Members. 
 

 

 

Sustaining our society 

Developing and adapting our publishing portfolio, taking into account the research 

environment and community requirements, ensuring we provide a place to publish for all 
pharmacology researchers. 

• Develop rationale for publishing portfolio expansion or adaptation, with cultivation of 
stakeholder buy-in. 

• Explore the development of Pa2 into platform for abstracts and posters, with potential for 
expansion into other content types and outputs, up to and including articles. 

• Work with IUPHAR and NC-IUPHAR to ensure the long-term stability of the Guide to 

Pharmacology database as an OA tool for the pharmacology community. 

 
Building BPS Assessment Ltd into the premier assessment and learning business for 
prescribing skills by growing national and global sales of our core products and services. 

• Build a sustainable business, putting the company on a secure financial footing that is 

underpinned by clear business targets 
• Build on our existing knowledge and understanding of the UK markets to drive awareness of 

our B2C products 
• Create a clear development pipeline - ensuring platform keeps abreast of good practice in e-

learning and assessment 

 
Adopting best practice environmental, social and governance policies and practices, and 

pursuing ethical income opportunities whilst developing clear targets to de-carbonise 
and reach Net Zero. 

• Complete an investment policy review, considering the Society's approach to ESG principles, 
and implications for staff pension arrangements 

• Conduct an options appraisal for the Society's premises 
• Create a framework that supports donations and legacies. 

• Embed a good understanding of the Society's financial strategy and ensure that clear and 

efficient processes are in place, so all individuals associated with budgets are financially 
empowered to fulfil their objectives 
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• Initiate benchmarking exercise to understand baseline environmental footprint of the 
organisation. 

• Build sponsor and partnership relationships with existing and new commercial partners 
• Establish operation of BPS Trading Services to underpin commercial partnerships activity. 

 
Impact statement 

The Society’s financial planning horizon extends over a three-year time period and through this 

long-term approach the Trustees identified the necessity to resolve the steady net-spend resulting 
in a gradual reduction of the Society's net assets over a three-to-five-year timeframe. This 

responsible approach to financial planning resulted in the Trustees approving the formation of three 

working groups to focus on business planning opportunities for the Society. Given significant 
groundwork completed by the development of a publishing strategy in early 2022 a journals 

working group convened first. In the latter quarter of 2022 the Trustees approved the formation of 
two further working groups for meetings and training, and operations and resourcing. 

 
The trading subsidiary, BPS Assessment Ltd is overseen by a Board of external and internal Non-

Executive Directors, all of whom have appropriate expertise relevant to the business. Despite staff 
vacancies and challenges as the sales effort recovered from losses during the pandemic years, the 

end of year sales were £266,558 which represents a 35% increase on 2021 sales. Renewal rate was 

>98% with an ever-growing number of multiyear deals indicating customer satisfaction and loyalty. 
 

The Society’s investment policy was thoroughly reviewed through the lens of Environmental, Social 
and good Governance factors resulting in a revised investment policy that fits the Society’s ethical 

investment objectives. The Trustees approved the new policy and our investment managers have 
been instructed to enact changes as required. 

 
A framework for receiving donations was not progressed in 2022, however through the planning 

process for the World Congress of Basic & Clinical Pharmacology the Society has partnered with 

Enthuse a charitable donation platform to fundraise to support early career researchers attend the 
Congress in 2023. The Society was delighted to receive a significant donation from the Dollery 

family. Through the generous donation, the Society launched the Sir Colin Dollery Clinical 
Pharmacology Training Award. This award was established to celebrate the life and legacy of Sir 

Colin Dollery and it aims to support the discipline of Clinical Pharmacology by encouraging medical 
students to pursue Clinical Pharmacology as a specialty and increasing basic pharmacology skills for 

medical students pursuing a career path within industry.  
 

BPS Trading Services Limited commenced trading with effect from 01 January 2022 and recorded 

Turnover of £41,900 in its first year. 
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PLANS FOR FUTURE PERIODS 
 

2023 will be the second year of delivery of the Society’s three-year strategy 2022-2024, building on 
the success of 2022 the Society will aim to: 

 

Progressing our Pharmacology Priorities 

Strengthening the foundations of clinical pharmacology through supporting the training, 
workforce development, and multi-professional partnerships that enable the safe and 

effective development and use of medicines.  
• Working with partners, including the Clinical Pharmacology Skills Alliance (CPSA), to review 

our approach to building the discipline and career paths for clinical pharmacology. 

• Build on BPS facilitated training and awareness campaigns to support and grow all forms of 
clinical pharmacology (NHS, academic, and drug discovery). 

• Deliver the Dacre review, an independent review of the Prescribing Safety Assessment and 
enable the Society to curate a response and act on its outcomes. 

 
Bringing the pharmacological community together through an innovative programme of 

commissioned and member-led content, online and in-person.  
• Build a strategic plan for our 2023-2027 events schedule, in collaboration with the 

Meetings and Training Working Group, with a focus on increasing revenue from our events. 

• Deliver a successful and financially profitable WCP2023, meeting all KPIs and supporting 
the needs of the Executive Committee and other stakeholders, while upholding the BPS 

values. 
• Work with commercial partners and sister societies to expand our reach and showcase 

pharmacology on a global scale through the provision of and delivery of co-organised 
meetings. 

 
Curating, and where necessary expanding, content into thematic priorities, which are 

joined-up across policy, publishing, education, training, and meetings. 

• Develop and communicate policy messages (particularly across our campaign priorities - 
inclusive pharmacology and clinical pharmacology), making the most of cross-Society 

channels such as publishing, digital platforms, meetings and education. 

 
 

Celebrating and connecting our community 

Focusing on removing barriers to inclusion, building equity and accessibility into every 
entry, progression, and decision point within the Society. 

• Work to empower committees and teams to collaborate by removing barriers and 
monitoring progress across our activities. 

• Build an engaged workforce motivated by having the best possible experience of work. 
• Expand and connect each journal’s EDI action plan to generate joint approach across the 

Society’s publications, in line with latest industry best practice and with the needs of our 
community. 

• Formally adopt Web Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG) 2.2 as a policy for our 

websites, email and other web-based channels - aiming for 'AA' compliance as much as 
possible. Use this guidance when developing new BPS website. 

• Digital and branded content aligns with our EDI values, is supportive of the community and 
nurtures a compassionate environment. 

• Develop the Society's membership offer to the "non-voting" pharmacology community. 
 

Harmonising our education, training and engagement projects in collaboration with our 
community, by aligning them to our thematic priorities and taking account of the needs 

of those within industry, academia and clinical settings. 
• Building on our member networking from 2022, further support our education, 

engagement and drug discovery communities (including Ambassadors) by providing 

regular communications and opportunities for shared learning throughout the year. 
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• Develop an integrated learning pathways approach to education and training, delivering 

tangible outputs for learning pharmacology. 
 

Embracing digital opportunities so that we can extend our reach, grow membership, and 
expand our communities of engagement. 

• Launch new BPS website by end of November 2023. 
• Develop the new CRM into the Society’s “principal knowledge hub". 

 

Sharing stories that articulate the breadth and depth of pharmacology, to represent and 
inspire the next generation of pharmacologists. 

• Connect everyone who creates content for our channels, having oversight of production. 
• Create editorial oversight frameworks for content output across the organisation. 

 
 

Sustaining our Society 

Developing and adapting our publishing portfolio, taking into account the research 

environment and community requirements, ensuring we provide a place to publish for 
all pharmacology researchers. 

• Support Journals Working Group to develop recommendations for Council by June and 
deliver on any activities agreed for 2023. 

 
Building BPS Assessment Ltd into the premier assessment and learning business for 

prescribing skills by growing national and global sales of our core products and 

services. 
• Grow sales by at least 25% from 2022 sales result. 

• To build significant new income stream from platform licensing. 
• To develop a strategic response to the outcome of the Dacre review. 

 
Adopting best practice environmental, social and governance policies and practices, and 

pursuing ethical income opportunities whilst developing clear targets to de-carbonise 
and reach Net Zero. 

• Conduct a sustainability audit using the GoingGreenTogether template. 

• Develop a sustainability policy for the Society, initial focus on building and digital in relation 
to reduction of Carbon Footprint. 

• ESG policies to inform outcomes of Operations and Resourcing Working Group - leading to a 
more efficient and sustainable operational infrastructure of the Society. 
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 
 

The Statement of Financial Activities on page 
24 reports the financial performance of the 

Group (the Society and its trading 

subsidiaries, BPS Assessment Limited and 
BPS Trading Services Limited). The Balance 

Sheets on page 25 provide details of the 
Group’s, and the Society's, financial position 

at the year end. 
 

For the year ended 31 December 2022 the 
total funds of the Group have decreased by 

£883,018 (2021 - £664,610 increase). The 

overall decrease is made up of a decrease in 
unrestricted funds of £1,050,006 (2021 - 

£699,318 increase) and an increase in 
restricted funds of £166,988 (2021 - 

£34,708 decrease). 
 

Net losses on investments totalling £576,479 
(2021 - £359,468 gains) have contributed 

towards the overall movement in funds and 

are entirely attributable to unrestricted 
funds. 

 
The resulting balance of total funds at 31 

December 2022 amounted to £5,792,797 
(2021 - £6,675,815) of which £5,307,978 

(2021 - £6,357,984) is the unrestricted 
funds of the Society. 

 

 
Incoming resources 

Incoming resources for the year totalled 
£4,288,037 (2021 - £4,523,279) which is a 

decrease of 5.2%. Charitable activity income 
from journal publishing, which is the 

Society's main income source, has decreased 
by 11.8% to £3,423,510 (2021 - 

£3,879,981) although the fact this income 

has decreased is because of income in 2021 
from the journal publishers on completion of 

a new agreement. 
 

Member numbers decreased by 6.3% to 
4,469 (2021 - 4,768) and membership 

subscription income decreased by 6.3% to 
£117,201 (2021 - £125,154). The decrease 

in numbers is primarily attributable to a 

decrease in the number of Undergraduate 
Student members. 

 
Scientific meetings income increased by 

£46,859 to £123,020 (2021 - £76,161) as 

the easing of COVID-19 restrictions meant 
that some additional meetings and events 

could be held after the cancellations and 
postponements in 2020 and 2021 due to the 

pandemic. Pharmacology 2022 was held as 

an in-person 2-day event, instead of a 3-
days as had been the case for 2019 and 

prior. 
 

Voluntary income totalled £233,000 (2021 - 
£35,000) and is mostly for educational 

activities. In 2022 the Society was delighted 
to receive a significant donation from the 

Dollery family enabling the Sir Colin Dollery 

Clinical Pharmacology Training Award to be 
established. 

 
Investment income was £14,169 higher at 

£86,695 (2021 - £72,526) due to some 
market recovery in response to the easing of 

COVID-19 restrictions. 
 

 

Expenditure on charitable activities 
Expenditure on charitable activities totalled 

£4,570,492 (2021 - £4,194,316) which is a 
9.0% increase of £376,176. The notable 

variations within this expenditure are 
highlighted here. 

 
Journal publishing costs increased by 

£83,123 to £1,445,775 (2021 - £ 

1,362,652); reflecting increased publisher 
costs and Society support costs associated 

with publishing. 
 

Expenditure on educational activities at 
£1,758,364 was a 3.5% decrease of £63,932 

over the previous year (2021 - £ 1,822,296) 
due to staffing vacancies for part of the year. 

 

Projects and awards expenditure at 
£201,850 was a 8.0% increase of £14,958 

over the previous year (2021 - £ 186,892). 
 

Scientific meetings expenditure at £929,197 
was a 46.1% increase of £293,128 over the 

previous year (2021 - £ 636,069) as the 
easing of COVID-19 restrictions meant that 

some additional meetings and events could 

be held after the cancellations and 
postponements in 2020 and 2021 due to the 

pandemic. 
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Capital expenditure 
Capital expenditure totalled £54,546 (2021 - 

£58,352) of which £51,302 (£42,952) was 
for the new contact relationship 

management (CRM) system which went live 

on 30 September 2022. 
 

Reserves policy and designated funds 
The balance on General Funds of £2,964,853 

(2021 - £4,022,445) represents the reserves 
of the Society. The Trustees consider that 

the Society’s reliance on publishing income is 
the predominant determinant of the level of 

reserves required and have calculated that a 

level of £2,500,000 would allow the Society 
to fulfil is commitments to its members both 

in terms of operations and activities over a 
period of one year if the Society’s 

publications income failed or were severely 
reduced as well as covering other potential 

adverse scenarios. The reserves reported at 
31 December 2022 therefore represent 

119% of the requirement. 

 
The Trustees have continued to designate 

funds, as shown in note 21, in accordance 
with the Society's financial strategy. 

 
The balance on the Prizes & Awards Fund is 

being maintained, via a transfer from the 
General Funds, at £1million to part-fund 

both current and future generations of 

beneficiaries.  
 

Considering COVID-19 and after consultation 
with the International Union of Basic and 

Clinical Pharmacology (IUPHAR) it was 
decided in 2020 to move the World Congress 

of Pharmacology from 2022 to July 2023. 
The World Pharma 2023 fund exists to 

underwrite a potential net cost to the Society 

of £500,000 (2021 - £500,000) for hosting 
the Congress and thus guarantee the 

running of the event. Appropriate additional 
safeguards will be implemented to ensure 

the safety and financial stability of this global 
meeting. 

 
After making appropriate enquiries, the 

Trustees have a reasonable expectation that 

the Society has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the 

foreseeable future. For this reason, they 
continue to adopt the going concern basis in 

preparing the financial statements. 

 
Grant making policies 

The Society's policy is to make grants that 
advance its objectives, i.e., to promote and 

advance pharmacology, and to comply with 

the terms of any restricted or designated 
funds from which grants are provided. 

Applications are invited from individuals or 
institutions suitably qualified or active in the 

discipline. Appropriate committees decide 
who will receive grants. In the case of a few 

minor grants, authority to make decisions on 
applications is delegated to individual officers 

or senior staff. 

 
Investment policy and performance 

The Society holds investments with a value 
totalling £3,520,828 at 31 December 2022 

(2021 £3,966,190). This represents a total 
return (net of fees) of -12.6%, compared to 

the Asset Risk Consultants (ARC) steady 
growth charity index of -9.6%. 

 

In 2022 the world was buffeted by economic 
and geopolitical shocks, which created very 

challenging conditions for investment. At the 
beginning of the year, concern was rife 

about the new more transmissible variant of 
COVID-19 that was spreading around the 

world. As concern ebbed over the Omicron 
variant, fears rose over rising levels of 

inflation. 

 
While most investors and policymakers went 

into 2022 expecting a return of inflation, few 
foresaw just how sharply and persistently 

prices would rise. The Federal Reserve, 
which sets US interest rates, expected to 

raise rates by less than 1% by the end of the 
year, but ended up hiking by more than 4% 

in what was, arguably, the most aggressive 

interest rate rising cycle on record.  
 

Inflation was more persistent than expected, 
and therefore interest rates rose by more 

than expected. This meant bonds were worth 
less and the growth of company profits was 

generally outweighed by falling valuations in 
the equity market. 

 

The most significant bright spot for investors 
was energy. Energy bounced back 

spectacularly from a difficult post-pandemic 
period, which at one time saw oil prices turn 

briefly negative, fuelled by a pick up in 
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demand coinciding with OPEC cutting oil 
production and sanctions on Russian oil in 

response to the invasion of Ukraine. 
 

As the year progressed, inflation remained 

stubborn driven by soaring demand and 
reduced supply of energy, goods and labour; 

while the period of ultra-low interest rates 
sent property prices flying. During the last 

few months of the year, there were signs of 
all of these forces easing.  

 
In anticipation of slowing inflation, investors 

have begun to anticipate a peak in interest 

rates across the UK, US and Europe. Central 
banks have tried to temper these 

expectations, but if they come to pass, they 
will remove a major headwind for the stock 

market and have been reflected in equity 
and bond market rallies over the final 

quarter. 
 

As a result of the turbulent year for negative 

news flow and the prevailing uncertain 
economic background, both equities and 

bonds fell sharply. Global equities dropped 
by 7.3%, led by the US which declined by 

8.4%, however it was bonds that faced the 
full wrath of the market sell off. UK 

sovereign bond prices collapsed by the 
23.8%, the worst decline for decades. 

 

The investments are managed on behalf of 
the Society by an investment management 

company, RBC Brewin Dolphin (RBCBD), who 
act for the Society on a fully discretionary 

basis. For the duration of the year, the 
portfolio has been managed at a “diversified” 

mid-level of risk. RBCBD are required to 
have regard for the Society's status as an 

educational and health charity, and the 

Society specifically prohibits investments in 
tobacco companies. In September 2022 the 

Society approved a new investment policy 
recommended following an 18-month review 

by a working group of Finance Committee. 
The new policy integrates environmental, 

social and governance (ESG) considerations 
into investment processes and ownership 

practices. The Society would expect the 

overall ESG risk and “controversy” 
ratings to fall over time and will indicate and 

agree their expectations in advance and 
direct investment in the “severe” ESG risk 

category is also prohibited. In addition, to 

maintain an impartial position, RBCBD is also 
prohibited from investing directly in 

pharmaceutical companies. The Society's 
investment strategy works together with its 

reserves policy and seeks to provide against 

sudden loss of income from its traditional 
activities and in particular loss of income 

from its publishing activities. 
 

The range of assets selected provides 
diversification and the opportunity to add 

value at the appropriate stage of the 
economic cycle. The balance between the 

different kinds of investments in both 

portfolios are determined by the investment 
manager's judgement of future returns likely 

to be obtained on each class of investments, 
and a mandate to target a certain level of 

liquidity coincidental with the Trustees' 
perception of future financial risk to which 

the Society might become exposed. 
 

Strategic benchmarks and structured 

reporting enable the Society to regularly 
review both the performance of RBCBD and 

its portfolios. Finance Committee met 
regularly throughout the year with the 

investment manager to review the entire 
portfolio and agree the relative strategic 

benchmarks from time to time. The 
Committee work with the investment 

manager to ensure the investments provide 

long-term growth ahead of inflation, income 
and liquidity.  
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STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND 
MANAGEMENT 

 
Reference and administrative details of the 

charity, its trustees and advisers are shown 

on page 17 of the financial statements. 
 

In 1994, the Society became a Company 
Limited by Guarantee and therefore has no 

share capital. In the event of its winding up, 
the members' liability is limited to £1 each. 

The Society's governing document is its 
Articles of Association, the current version of 

which took effect from 1 January 2015. 

 
The Trustees 

The Trustees of the charity for the year 
under review are below, with details of their 

attendance at the four Council meetings held 
in 2022 (2021 – four meetings). 

 

Elected Officer Trustees  

President C Page  3/4 

President Elect M Caulfield 4/4 

Honorary 

Treasurer 

C Williams (until 31 

December 2022) 
4/4 

Elected 
Trustees 

A Alfirevic 4/4 

 J Coleman 3/4 

 S Rees 3/4 

 M Wallace (until 31 

December 2022) 
4/4 

 S Watson 4/4 

Appointed 

Trustees 
E Briffa 4/4 

 L Cumberbatch 4/4 

 R M Quinn 4/4 

 A Zorn 4/4 

 
Trustees’ main legal responsibilities are as 

follows: 
• Ensure the charity is carrying out its 

purposes for the public benefit  
• Act in the charity’s best interests 

• Comply with the charity’s governing 
document and the law  

• Manage the charity’s resources 

responsibly 
• Act with reasonable care and skill 

• Ensure the charity is accountable to 
the Charity Commission for meeting 

its objectives as a registered charity. 
The Trustees are also the company Directors 

of the British Pharmacological Society. The 

Companies Act imposes similar legal duties 
on company Directors. 

 
The Council of Trustees comprises between 

nine (minimum) and twelve (maximum) 

Trustees. The President (Chair), President-
Elect and Honorary Treasurer are elected by 

the Voting Members. Other Trustees (of 
whom at least one represents industry, one 

represents clinical pharmacology, and one is 
an Early Career Pharmacologist) are either 

elected by the Voting Members or appointed 
by Council.  

 

Council appoints Appointed Trustees based 
on their skills, knowledge and experience, 

choosing them to support the Society in 
delivering its charitable purposes.  The 

maximum number of appointed Trustees is 
one third of the total number of Trustees, 

and so cannot exceed four. 
 

Trustees are elected to serve for periods of 

between three and four years, depending on 
office. Elections to Council take place each 

year and only members in good standing 
may be nominated as elected Trustees. 

Appointed Trustees have the same 
responsibilities and powers as elected 

Trustees and any such appointment shall be 
for such period as Council determines, 

subject ordinarily to a maximum of two 

terms of up to three years each, after which 
any person so appointed may be eligible for 

election as a Trustee (including as an 
Officer) by the Voting Members, but shall not 

be re-appointed by the Council until a period 
of at least three years has elapsed after 

expiry of their term of office. 
Member participation in the Society’s 

charitable mission is crucial to shape the 

future direction of the Society’s activities. 
This is why most members are Voting 

Members who can self-nominate for elected 
roles. 

 
Role descriptions have been produced for 

Trustees which are regularly reviewed to 
ensure they reflect the Society’s strategic 

aims. The role descriptions specify the 

knowledge, skills and attributes required. A 
skills survey of Trustees is undertaken 

regularly which helps determine their 
training requirements and Trustees attend 

training annually. 
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When considering elections for, and 

appointment of Trustees, Council follows the 
requirements of the Society's constitution, 

the Charity Commission’s Governance Code 

for Trustees and Guidance Note CC30 of the 
Charity Commission: 

• The Charity Commission’s Governance 
Code for Trustees sets out the 

hallmarks of an effective charity, which 
includes seven principles that are ‘built 

on the assumption that a charity is 
meeting its legal and regulatory 

responsibilities as a foundation'; 

• CC30 provides guidance on the 
processes involved noting that "the 

existing trustees are legally responsible 
for the recruitment of new trustees" 

and in addition to taking account of 
diversity issues, trustees must "look at 

what skills, knowledge and experience 
are needed to make sure that the 

charity is well governed and is run 

effectively, efficiently and appropriately 
to its size and complexity". 

 
 

Committees and Management Group 
Council has ultimate responsibility for all 

aspects of the Society's activities, with the 
exception of those matters which must be 

decided by a general meeting of the 

members. The Council focuses on strategy 
and delegates all but key strategic and 

financial decisions to five core Committees, 
each chaired by a Vice President or Officer, 

who have significant autonomy and control 
over their budgets. 

 
The core Committees report back to Council. 

These reports cover risk management. 

Members of these Committees comprise both 
Trustees and/or elected Vice-Presidents, 

together with other Members and some non-
members. Financial management is 

delegated to the Finance Committee, chaired 
by the Honorary Treasurer. The journals are 

managed by the Society's Publications Team, 
which refers as appropriate to the President 

Elect, Council and Management Group, and 

in turn delegates responsibility to the 
journals' Management and Editorial Boards. 

 
Council has delegated responsibility for the 

general management of the Society's 

activities to a small Management Group, 
chaired by the President, to oversee the day-

to-day operations of the Society. The other 
members of the Group are the President 

Elect, Honorary Treasurer and Chief 

Executive. The Trustees employ a Chief 
Executive, who is responsible for executing 

the decisions of Council and for the day-to-
day management of the Society's resources. 

The Chief Executive reports back to Council 
and Management Group on performance 

against the objectives of the Society.  
 

At 31 December 2022 the Society had 26 full 

time equivalent staff, and used specialist 
consultants as required. 

 
Member contribution 

The Society benefits significantly from 
voluntary work by its Members in the 

organisation of meetings, editing and 
reviewing manuscripts, service on 

Committees and panels, and many other 

activities. The Trustees thank these Members 
for all this hard work, given in Members’ free 

time. The Society could not function 
successfully without Members’ support. 

 
The Society, Council and Members 

participate actively in the wider bioscience 
community, both in the UK and 

internationally. This includes collaborative 

funding of research and education initiatives, 
and the hosting of scientific meetings. 

Details of these activities are included in the 
section on Objectives and Achievements, 

listed on pages 5 to 8. 
 

Remuneration of key management 
personnel 

In determining appropriate levels of 

remuneration for staff, the Society aims to 
provide overall packages of terms and 

conditions that are affordable by the Society, 
competitive in the market, and will help to 

attract, retain, and motivate high quality 
individuals capable of achieving the Society’s 

objectives. The Society wishes to ensure that 
staff are fairly rewarded for their individual 

and collective responsibilities and 

contributions to the Society’s overall 
performance. 

 
The Society believes that remuneration 

should contain both discretionary cost of 
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living and non-recurring performance-related 
elements, and that these elements should 

relate both to the performance of the Society 
and the state of its finances. 

 

Council retains overall responsibility for 
remuneration and employment benefits, and 

has delegated the operation of such matters 
to Management Group and Finance 

Committee (overall affordability).  
 

When considering recommendations for 
performance awards and any changes to 

salary, Management Group are provided with 

individuals’ performance compared with set 
objectives and targets, and benchmarking 

information. External data on general 
inflation and wage inflation is considered 

when considering any cost of living award. 
 

Risk assessment 
The Council has a Risk Policy and a Risk 

Register, which provide the framework and 

controls for the management of risks. The 
Risk Register is reviewed on a continuing 

basis by the Finance Committee, who then 
report to Trustees. Risk management is an 

integral part of the Society’s business 
processes.  

 
The prime risk to which the Society is 

exposed continues to be financial, 

particularly in respect of the income from our 
journals. Although the Trustees are 

reassured by the publishers that a 
catastrophic loss of income is unlikely in the 

short to medium term, the Society’s reliance 
on publishing income means this risk is the 

predominant determinant of the level of free 
reserves held by the Society according to its 

Reserves Policy. Other significant risks 

identified derive from this primary risk and 
include the risk that existing and potential 

business development activities do not result 
in significant alternative, sustainable sources 

of net revenue.  
 

An emerging risk considered during 2022 
was the current economic climate of 

significant price inflation adversely impacting 

the cost of living; this is not assessed as 
having a substantial effect on the Society’s 

income and its effect on the cost-base has 
been incorporated into plans and mitigating 

actions. 

Fundraising 
The Society does not actively engage in any 

significant fundraising as described in 
guidance from the Charity Commission 

“Charity fundraising: a guide to trustee 

duties (CC20)”, and so has not engaged a 
professional fundraiser or commercial 

participator to carry out any fundraising 
activities, and has therefore not subscribed 

to any fundraising standards or scheme of 
fundraising regulation. No complaints have 

been recorded about any fundraising 
activity, and the Society does not fundraise 

in any way that could be expected to 

unreasonably intrude or place undue 
pressure on vulnerable people and other 

members of the public to give money or 
other property to the Society. 

 
 

TRUSTEES' RESPONSIBILITIES IN 
RELATION TO THE FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

The trustees (who are also Directors of the 
British Pharmacological Society for the 

purposes of company law) are responsible for 
preparing the Trustees’ Report and the 

financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and United Kingdom 

Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice.) 

 

Company law requires the trustees to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year 

which give a true and fair view of the state of 
the affairs of the charitable company and of 

its income and expenditure for that period. In 
preparing these financial statements, the 

trustees are required to: 
 

• select suitable accounting policies and 

then apply them consistently; 
 

• observe the methods and principles in 
the Charities SORP; 

  
• make judgments and accounting 

estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; 

  

• state whether applicable Accounting 
Standards, including FRS 102, have 

been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in 

the financial statements; 
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• state whether a Statement of 

Recommended Practice (SORP) applies 
and has been followed, subject to any 

material departures which are explained 

in the financial statements 
 

• prepare the financial statements on the 
going concern basis unless it is 

inappropriate to presume that the 
charitable company will continue in 

operation. 
 

The trustees are responsible for keeping 

proper accounting records that disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 

position of the charitable company and enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements 

comply with the Companies Act 2006. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the 

assets of the charitable company and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 

and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 
 

 
DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO 

AUDITOR 
 

Each of the persons who are Trustees at the 

time when this Trustees' report is approved 
has confirmed that: 

 
• so far as that Trustee is aware, there is 

no relevant audit information of which 
the charitable company's auditors are 

unaware, and 
 

• that Trustee has taken all the steps that 

ought to have been taken as a Trustee 
in order to be aware of any information 

needed by the charitable company's 
auditors in connection with preparing 

their report and to establish that the 
charitable company's auditors are 

aware of that information. 
 

 

 
 

 
 

This report was approved by the Trustees on 03 May 2023 and signed on their behalf by:
 

 
 

 

C Page 
President 
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Trustees 
A Alfirevic  

E Briffa  
M Caulfield  

J Coleman  
L Cumberbatch  

A Hobbs from 1 January 2023 

S Kennedy from 1 January 2023 
C Page  

R M Quinn  
S Rees  

L Wallace until 31 December 2022 

S Watson  
C Williams until 31 December 2022 

A Zorn  
 

 
Key management personnel 

R Lambert-Forsyth Chief Executive  
K Banham Director, Research 

Dissemination 

D James Executive Director, 
Business Development 

M Poole Finance & Commercial 
Director 

A Zecharia Director, Policy & Public 
Affairs 

 
 

Charity registered number 1030623 

Company registered number  2877400 
Company Secretary   M Poole 

 
Registered office 

The Schild Plot, 16 Angel Gate, City Road, 
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Independent auditors 

Moore Kingston Smith LLP,Chartered 
Accountants & Statutory Auditor 
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Bankers 
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Barclays Bank plc 
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Solicitors 
Taylor Vinters LLP 
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Investment managers 
Brewin Dolphin 
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London EC1A 9BD 

 
VAT consultants 
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Chartered Accountants 
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Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of British Pharmacological Society for the year ended 31 

December 2021 which comprise Group Statement of Financial Activities, the Group Summary Income 

and Expenditure Account, the Group and Parent Charitable Company Balance Sheets, the Group Cash 
Flow Statement and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard 

Applicable in the UK and Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
 

In our opinion the financial statements: 
• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent charitable company’s affairs 

as at 31 December 2021 and of the group’s incoming resources and application of resources, 

including its income and expenditure, for the year then ended; 
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice; and 
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and the 

Charities Act 2011. 
 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs(UK)) and 

applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the audit of financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
charitable company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 

financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the trustees’ use of the going concern 

basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  

 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 

events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and 
parent charitable company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve 

months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  
 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the trustees with respect to going concern are described 
in the relevant sections of this report. 

 

Other information 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial 

statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The trustees are responsible for the other information 
contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 

information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

 
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 

information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 

course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a 

material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 

required to report that fact. 
 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the trustees’ annual report for the financial year for which the financial 

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 
• the trustees’ annual report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 

requirements. 
 

 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and parent charitable company and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the 

trustees’ annual report.  

 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 and the 

Charities Act 2011 require us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
• the parent charitable company has not kept adequate and sufficient accounting records, or 

returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 
• the parent charitable company’s financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting 

records and returns; or 
• certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 

• the trustees were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small 
companies regime and take advantage of the small companies exemption in preparing the 

Trustees’ Annual Report. 
 

 
Responsibilities of trustees 

As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities statement set out on page 16, the trustees 
(who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible 

for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 

view, and for such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the group and parent 

charitable company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to 

liquidate the group or parent charitable company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  

 

 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

We have been appointed as auditor under the Companies Act 2006 and section 151 of the Charities 
Act 2011 and report in accordance with those Acts.  

 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when 

it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of these financial statements.  
 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK) we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
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• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 

audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purposes of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the group and parent charitable company’s internal control.  
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the trustees.  
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 

events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group and parent charitable 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the group or parent charitable company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 

or business activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit report.  

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 
 

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting 

irregularities, including fraud 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 

procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in 
respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting 

irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. 
 

The objectives of our audit in respect of fraud, are; to identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements due to fraud; to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 

regarding the assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud, through designing and 

implementing appropriate responses to those assessed risks; and to respond appropriately to 
instances of fraud or suspected fraud identified during the audit. However, the primary responsibility 

for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both management and those charged with 
governance of the charitable company. 
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Our approach was as follows: 
 

• We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements applicable to the 

charitable company and considered that the most significant are [the Companies Act 2006, the 
Charities Act 2011, the Charity SORP, and UK financial reporting standards as issued by the 

Financial Reporting Council] 
 

• We obtained an understanding of how the charitable company complies with these 
requirements by discussions with management and those charged with governance. 

 
• We assessed the risk of material misstatement of the financial statements, including the risk 

of material misstatement due to fraud and how it might occur, by holding discussions with 

management and those charged with governance. 
 

• We inquired of management and those charged with governance as to any known instances of 
non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations. 

 
• Based on this understanding, we designed specific appropriate audit procedures to identify 

instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. This included making enquiries of 
management and those charged with governance and obtaining additional corroborative 

evidence as required. 

 
There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become 

aware of instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events 
and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or 

through collusion. 
 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the charitable company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and, in respect of the consolidated financial statements, to 

the charity’s trustees, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 8 of the Charities Act 2011. Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable company’s members and 

trustees those matters which we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to any 

party other than the charitable company, charitable company's members, as a body, and the charity’s 
trustees, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed. 

 

 
 

 
 

……………………………………………………………………………………………   Date: ………………………………. 
Neil Finlayson (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

for and on behalf of Moore Kingston Smith LLP, Statutory Auditor  Devonshire House,  
             6th Floor, 9 Appold Street, 

             EC2A 2AP 

 
Moore Kingston Smith LLP is eligible to act as auditor in terms of Section 1212 of the Companies Act 

2006. 



Restricted 

 funds

 2022

Unrestricted 

 funds

 2022

Total

funds

2022

Restricted 

 funds

 2021

Unrestricted 

 funds

 2021

Total

funds

2021

Note £ £ £ £ £ £

INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS FROM:

Donations and legacies 2 233,000 - 233,000 35,000 - 35,000 

Investments 3 - 86,695 86,695 - 72,526 72,526 

Charitable activities 4 68,936 3,893,606 3,962,542 69,886 4,339,700 4,409,586 

Other 5 - 5,800 5,800 - 6,167 6,167 

TOTAL INCOME 301,936 3,986,101 4,288,037 104,886 4,418,393 4,523,279 

EXPENDITURE ON:

Raising funds 6 - 24,084 24,084 - 23,821 23,821 

Charitable activities 7 159,948 4,410,544 4,570,492 158,000 4,036,316 4,194,316 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 159,948 4,434,628 4,594,576 158,000 4,060,137 4,218,137 

Net (losses) / gains on investments - (576,479) (576,479) - 359,468 359,468 

NET INCOME / (EXPENDITURE) 141,988 (1,025,006) (883,018) (53,114) 717,724 664,610 

Transfers between Funds 21 25,000 (25,000) - 18,406 (18,406) - 

NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS 166,988 (1,050,006) (883,018) (34,708) 699,318 664,610 

Total funds brought forward 317,830 6,357,985 6,675,815 352,538 5,658,667 6,011,205 

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD 21 484,818 5,307,978 5,792,797 317,830 6,357,985 6,675,815 

All activities relate to continuing operations.

The net expenditure of the parent Society itself amounted to £1,585,543 (2021 net income - £635,428).

The notes on pages 27 to 43 form part of these financial statements.
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Group Group Charity Charity

2022 2021 2022 2021

Note £ £ £ £

FIXED ASSETS

Intangible assets 13 129,584 116,036 129,584 116,036 

Tangible assets 14 713,542 719,504 713,542 719,504 

Investment in subsidiaries 15 - - 2 2 

Investments 16 3,520,828 3,966,190 3,520,828 3,966,190 

4,363,954 4,801,730 4,363,956 4,801,732 

CURRENT ASSETS

Debtors 17 1,484,097 1,819,140 1,340,215 1,830,134 

Cash at bank and in hand 1,247,621 960,432 780,505 741,245 

2,731,718 2,779,572 2,120,720 2,571,379 

CREDITORS: amounts falling due within

one year 18 (1,252,574) (837,182) (647,695) (670,263)

NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,479,145 1,942,390 1,473,026 1,901,116 

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,843,099 6,744,120 5,836,982 6,702,848 

CREDITORS: amounts falling due after

more than one year 19 (50,302) (68,305) (50,302) (60,230)

NET ASSETS 5,792,797 6,675,815 5,786,680 6,642,618 

CHARITY FUNDS

Restricted funds 21 484,818 317,830 484,818 317,830 

Unrestricted funds 

Unrestricted designated funds 21 2,343,126 2,335,540 2,343,126 2,335,540 

Unrestricted general fund 21 2,964,853 4,022,445 2,958,736 3,989,248 

5,307,979 6,357,985 5,301,862 6,324,788 

TOTAL FUNDS 5,792,797 6,675,815 5,786,680 6,642,618 

The financial statements were approved by the Trustees on 03 May 2023 and signed on their behalf by:

S Kennedy

Honorary Treasurer

The notes on pages 27 to 43 form part of these financial statements.
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2022 2021

£ £

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net movement in funds (883,018) 664,610 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of intangible fixed assets 37,754 69,582 

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 9,206 8,621 

Loss on disposal of intangible fixed assets - - 

Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets - - 

Losses / (Gains) on investments 576,479 (359,468)

Dividends and interest received (86,695) (72,526)

Decrease / (increase) in debtors 335,043 (173,053)

(Decrease) / increase in creditors 397,388 (450,153)

NET CASH (USED IN) / GENERATED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 386,157 (312,387)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to intangible fixed assets (51,302) (58,352)

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (3,244) - 

Purchase of investments (1,250,798) (1,148,401)

Proceeds from sale of investments 1,119,681 1,118,710 

Dividends and Interest received 86,695 72,526 

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (98,968) (15,517)

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE YEAR 287,189 (327,904)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 960,432 1,288,336 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 1,247,621 960,432 

Page 26

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

REGISTERED NUMBER: 2877400

BRITISH PHARMACOLOGICAL SOCIETY



1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

1.2 Companies Act 2006

1.3 Basis of consolidation

1.4 Going concern

1.5 Fund accounting

Designated funds are unrestricted funds earmarked by the trustees for particular purposes.

Investment income, gains and losses are allocated to the appropriate fund. 
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The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 

(FRS 102). The Charitable Group is a public benefit group for the purposes of FRS 102 and the Charity is a registered charity established as a 

company limited by guarantee, and therefore the Charity has also prepared its financial statements in accordance with the Statement of 

Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 

UK and Republic of Ireland (The FRS 102 Charities SORP),  the Companies Act 2006 and Charities Act 2011.  

Restricted funds are funds which are to be used in accordance with specific restrictions imposed by donors or which have been raised by the 

charity for particular purposes. The costs of raising and administering such funds are charged against the specific fund. The aim and use of 

each restricted fund is set out in the notes to the financial statements.

Unrestricted funds are expendable at the discretion of the trustees in furtherance of the objects of the Charity. The Trustees may, from time to 

time, set aside certain funds for specific purposes into separate designated funds. Such designations carry no legal restrictions and may be 

changed at the discretion of the Trustees.

The trustees have assessed whether the use of going concern is appropriate and have considered possible events or conditions that might cast 

significant doubt on the ability of the charitable company to continue as a going concern. This has included due consideration to the effects of 

the coronavirus pandemic and the measures taken both in the UK and overseas to contain it, including the introduction of temporary lockdowns 

imposed in England in 2020 and 2021. The trustees have made this assessment for a period of at least one year from the date of the approval 

of these financial statements. In particular, the trustees have considered the charitable company’s forecasts and projections and have taken 

account of pressures on publishing income. The trustees have entered into a new publishing contract for the Society's principal two journals for 

2023 onwards and are satisfied that the assumptions regarding future publishing income are reasonable. After making enquiries, the trustees 

have concluded that there is a reasonable expectation that the charitable company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence 

for the foreseeable future. The charitable company therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements.

The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Charity and its subsidiary undertaking for the year. BPS Assessment 

Limited commenced trading in 2017 and BPS Trading Services commenced trading in 2022 which is why the Society has produced 

consolidated financial statements.

All financial statements are made up to 31 December 2022. All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions 

between group entities are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 

impairment of the asset transferred. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting 

policies used into line with those used by other members of the group. The summary financial statements of BPS Assessment Limited and BPS 

Trading Services are shown in Note 15.

The prescribed profit and loss account formats required by Section 396 of the 2006 Companies Act have not been adhered to in disclosing the 

financial results of the Charity and Group for the year ended 31 December 2020. It is the opinion of the Trustees that strict adherence to these 

formats would be misleading to the membership of the Charity and Group and prevent the financial statements from showing a true and fair 

view as required by Section 393 of the 2006 Companies Act. In all other respects the financial statements comply with the requirements of the 

Companies Act 2006.

In accordance with Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 a separate Statement of Financial Activities dealing with the results of the charity 

has not been presented.

BRITISH PHARMACOLOGICAL SOCIETY

REGISTERED NUMBER: 2877400

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted, judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below.



1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.6 Incoming resources

Voluntary income and legacies

Membership subscriptions

1.7 Resources expended

Raising funds

These are costs associated with raising voluntary income and investment income for the Charity.

Charitable activities

These are costs associated with the Charity's charitable activities. 

Journal publishing income and costs

Grants awarded

Allocation of overheads

2022 2021

Member services 10% 8%

Journal publishing costs 14% 13%

Educational activities 54% 57%

Projects and awards 3% 2%

Scientific meetings 19% 20%

1.8 Intangible and tangible fixed assets, and amortisation and depreciation

All assets costing more than £2,000 are capitalised.

Intangible: Computer software & website - over 3 to 5 years straight line

Tangible: Leasehold property - none

Tangible: Fixtures & fittings - over 5 to 8 years straight line

Tangible: Computer equipment - over 3 years straight line
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Support costs are those costs incurred directly in support of expenditure on the objects of the charity and are allocated to the activity they 

relate to. General support costs are allocated to charitable activities on the basis of total staff costs.

Fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation. The residual value of the leasehold property is considered to be at least equal to the 

carrying value and therefore no depreciation has been provided as this would be immaterial. Amortisation and depreciation on other fixed 

assets is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost of those assets, less their estimated residual value, over their expected useful lives 

on the following bases:

REGISTERED NUMBER: 2877400

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Full provision is made for educational awards and bursaries when approved by the Trustees. Grants payable are charged in the year when 

the offer is made except in those cases where the offer is conditional, such grants being recognised as expenditure when the conditions 

attaching are fulfilled. Grants offered subject to conditions which have not been met at the year end are noted as a commitment, but not 

accrued as expenditure.

This represents the income and expenditure involved in publishing the British Journal of Pharmacology  and the British Journal of Clinical 

Pharmacology.

Expenditure is included in the Statement of Financial Activities on an accruals basis, inclusive of any VAT which cannot be recovered.  

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit to a third party, it is probable that a 

transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. 

Some membership dues are paid annually by the members for the year to 31 December. An amount of deferred income is recorded for 

subscriptions received in advance.

Voluntary income derived by way of donations and legacies to the Charity is included in full in the Statement of Financial Activities when the 

Society has the legal entitlement to receive the funds and the Trustees are accurately able to assess the amount of the donation or legacy.

All income is recognised when there is entitlement to the funds, the receipt is probable and the amount can be measured reliably.

Central overhead costs are allocated to activities on the basis of total staff costs:



1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.9 Revaluation of tangible fixed assets

1.10 Investments

1.11 Other financial instruments

Debtors and creditors

Cash and cash equivalents

1.12 Company status

1.13 Pensions

1.14 Recognition of liabilities

1.15 Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement

-
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It is not possible to identify an individual Employer’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities of SAUL. The Society accounts for its 

participation in SAUL as if it were a defined contribution scheme and pension costs are based on the amounts actually paid (i.e. cash 

amounts) in accordance with paragraphs 28.11 of FRS 102.

The Society is a Participating Employer in the Superannuation Arrangements of the University of London (“SAUL”). The actuarial valuation 

applies to SAUL as a whole and does not identify surpluses or deficits applicable to individual employers. As a whole, the market value of 

SAUL’s assets at 31 March 2020 was £3,612 million representing 94% of the liabilities. The market value of SAUL's assets at 30 April 2021 

was £4,369 million representing 109% of the estimated liabilities.

The valuation of the Society's long leasehold premises has a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 

statements. Further details of the value at which the premises are included can be found in note 14

In preparing financial statements it is necessary to make certain judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recognised 

in the financial statements. The following judgements and estimates are considered by the trustees to have most significant effect on 

amounts recognised in the financial statements:

.

The Society recognises liabilities when there is a legal obligation to incur the liability and the amount can be reliably calculated.

The Society also contributes to a defined contribution scheme for the benefit of its employees and contributions payable are charged to the 

Statement of Financial Activities.

Although there was a Technical Provisions surplus at 31 March 2020, allowing for post valuation experience to 30 April 2021 SAUL had a 

Technical Provisions suplus. Therefore, no deficit contributions were required following the 2020 valuation and there is no defined benefit 

liability (i.e. the present value of any deficit contributions due to SAUL) to be recognised by the Society.

BRITISH PHARMACOLOGICAL SOCIETY

REGISTERED NUMBER: 2877400

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Freehold land and buildings are stated at their deemed cost being the valuation at the date of transition to FRS 102. The charitable company 

previously adopted a policy of revaluing freehold land and buildings and they were stated at their revalued amount less any impairment 

losses. The company has adopted the transition exemption under FRS 102 paragraph 35.10(d) and has elected to use the previous 

revaluation as deemed cost.

The Charity is a company limited by guarantee. The directors of the company are the Trustees named on page 22. In the event of the Charity 

being wound up, the liability in respect of the guarantee is limited to £1 per member of the Charity.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and in hand and short term deposits with a maturity date of three months or less.

Debtors and creditors receivable or payable within one year of the reporting date are carried at their at transaction price. Debtors and 

creditors that are receivable or payable in more than one year and not subject to a market rate of interest are measured at the present value 

of the expected future receipts or payment discounted at a market rate of interest.

Investments are stated at the mid-market value ruling at the balance sheet date. The Statement of Financial Activities includes the net gains 

and losses arising on revaluations and disposals throughout the year.

Revaluation gains and losses are recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses unless losses exceed the previously 

recognised gains or reflect a clear consumption of economic benefits, in which case the losses are recognised in the Statement of Financial 

Activities.



2. DONATIONS AND LEGACIES

Restricted Unrestricted Total 

funds funds funds 

2022 2022 2022

£ £ £

Donations and grants 233,000         -                 233,000         

Restricted Unrestricted Total 

funds funds funds 

2021 2021 2021

£ £ £

Donations and grants 35,000           -                 35,000           

3. INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS

Restricted Unrestricted Total 

funds funds funds 

2022 2022 2022

£ £ £

Income from UK listed investments -                 68,076           68,076           

Income from non-UK listed investments -                 18,573           18,573           

Bank interest receivable -                 46                  46                  

-                 86,695           86,695           

Restricted Unrestricted Total 

funds funds funds 

2021 2021 2021

£ £ £

Income from UK listed investments -                 59,103           59,103           

Income from non-UK listed investments -                 13,411           13,411           

Bank interest receivable -                 12                  12                  

-                 72,526           72,526           

4. INCOME FROM CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES

Restricted Unrestricted Total 

funds funds funds 

2022 2022 2022

£ £ £

Membership subscriptions -                 117,201         117,201         

Journal publishing income -                 3,423,510      3,423,510      

Educational activities 68,936           229,875         298,811         

Scientific meetings -                 123,020         123,020         

68,936           3,893,606      3,962,542      

Restricted Unrestricted Total 

funds funds funds 

2021 2021 2021

£ £ £

Membership subscriptions -                 125,154         125,154         

Journal publishing income -                 3,879,981      3,879,981      

Educational activities 69,886           258,404         328,290         

Scientific meetings -                 76,161           76,161           

69,886           4,339,700      4,409,586      
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5. OTHER INCOME

Restricted Unrestricted Total 

funds funds funds 

2022 2022 2022

£ £ £

Other income -                 5,800             5,800             

Restricted Unrestricted Total 

funds funds funds 

2021 2021 2021

£ £ £

Other income -                 6,167             6,167             

6. INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT COSTS

Restricted Unrestricted Total 

funds funds funds 

2022 2022 2022

£ £ £

Investment management fees -                 24,084           24,084           

Restricted Unrestricted Total 

funds funds funds 

2021 2021 2021

£ £ £

Investment management fees -                 23,821           23,821           

7. ANALYSIS OF EXPENDITURE ON CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES

Grant

Activities funding of Support

undertaken activities costs

directly (Notes 8 & 9) (see below) Total 

2022 2022 2022 2022

£ £ £ £

Members services 116,578     1,208             117,520         235,306         

Journal publishing costs 1,273,034  -                 172,741         1,445,775      

Educational activities 1,048,857  58,656           650,851         1,758,364      

Projects and awards 93,579       74,500           33,771           201,850         

Scientific meetings 693,573     5,000             230,624         929,197         

3,225,621  139,364         1,205,507      4,570,492      

Analysis of Support Costs Basis of Total 

Allocation 2022

£

Finance Total staff costs 83,371           

IT Total staff costs 183,241         

Staff costs Total staff costs 615,124         

Policy & Public Engagement Total staff costs 94,983           

Governance Total staff costs 70,981           

Executive Total staff costs 7,338             

HR Total staff costs 99,436           

Premises Total staff costs 51,034           

1,205,508      
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7. ANALYSIS OF EXPENDITURE ON CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES (Continued)

Grant

Activities funding of Support

undertaken activities costs

directly (Notes 8 & 9) (see below) Total 

2021 2021 2021 2021

£ £ £ £

Members services 100,886         250                85,270           186,406         

Journal publishing costs 1,223,973      -                 138,679         1,362,652      

Educational activities 1,152,692      48,872           620,732         1,822,296      

Projects and awards 84,418           79,890           22,584           186,892         

Scientific meetings 439,379         6,128             190,562         636,069         

3,001,348      135,140         1,057,827      4,194,315      

Analysis of Support Costs Basis of Total 

Allocation 2021

£

Finance Total staff costs 51,195           

IT Total staff costs 159,832         

Staff costs Total staff costs 614,207         

Policy & Public Engagement Total staff costs 82,493           

Governance Total staff costs 73,302           

Executive Total staff costs 3,672             

HR Total staff costs 32,561           

Premises Total staff costs 40,565           

1,057,827      

8. GRANTS TO INDIVIDUALS

Number Total Number Total 

2022 2022 2021 2021

£ £

A J Clark Studentships                      1             49,393                      1             47,122 

Bursaries                    35 9,500 -                   1 (110)

Young Pharmacologists                    -                      -                      -                      -   

Ambassadors Scheme                      5               1,208                      1                  250 

                   41             60,101                      1             47,262 

9. GRANTS TO INSTITUTIONS

Total Total 

funds funds 

2022 2021

£ £

Educational & outreach activities               9,263               1,750 

Projects and awards (Guide to Pharmacology)             65,000             80,000 

Scientific meetings               5,000               6,128 

79,263           87,878           
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Bursaries in 2022 consist of 41 grants between £40 - £750. 2021 2021 bursaries consist of a reversal of a bursary of 

£110 that was recorded in 2020 and subsequently unclaimed.



10. GEOGRAPHICAL MARKETS

11. NET INCOMING RESOURCES / (RESOURCES EXPENDED)

This is stated after charging:

2022 2021

£ £

Depreciation of intangible fixed assets 37,754           69,582           

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets owned by the charity 9,206             8,621             

Auditors' remuneration

Audit - Charity - current year 15,595           12,995           

Other - Subsidiary - Review and Financial advice 4,370             1,975             

During the year, no Trustees received any remuneration (2021 - £Nil).

12. STAFF COSTS

Staff costs were as follows:

2022 2021

£ £

Wages and salaries 1,359,717      1,398,501      

Social security costs 157,949         152,696         

Pension costs 187,846         170,289         

1,705,512      1,721,486      

The average monthly number of employees during the year was as follows:

2022 2021

No. No.

Total headcount 23                  25                  

Full time equivalent basis 23                  25                  

The number of higher paid employees was:

2022 2021

No. No.

In the band £60,001 - £70,000 -                 -                 

In the band £70,001 - £80,000 -                 2                    

In the band £80,001 - £90,000 2                    2                    

In the band £90,001 - £100,000 1                    1                    

In the band £100,001 - £110,000 1                    1                    

In the band £110,001 - £120,000 -                 1                    

In the band £120,001 - £130,000 1                    -                 

5                    7                    

Pension contributions in respect of higher paid employees amounted to £85,664 (2021: £82,697).
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Contributions into the separate defined contrubution pension scheme of £45,447 (2021: £46,373) were payable in the year, with 

payments of £Nil (2021: £Nil) outstanding at the end of the year.

The Society accounts for its participation in SAUL as if it were a defined contribution pension scheme (see note 1.14). 

Contributions of £187,846 (2021: £110,859) were payable in the year with payments of £16,130 (2021: £14,057) outstanding at 

the year end.

Key management personnel include the Chief Executive together with senior staff reporting directly to the Chief Executive as 

shown in the legal and administrative page and totals 5 staff (2021: 5 staff). The total employee benefits of the charity's key 

management personnel amounted to £648,333 (2021: £616,807)

During the year, 7 (2021 - 5) Trustees' travel and subsistence and other general expenses totalled £9,406 (2021 - £1,344).

90% of the Charity's journal publishing income (2021 - 95%) and 78% (2021 - 56%) of the turnover of BPS Assessment Limited 

(see Note 15) is attributable to geographical markets outside the United Kingdom. All other incoming resources are attributable 

to the United Kingdom.
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13. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Group & Charity

Intangible fixed assets comprise computer software and website. Total

£

Cost

At 1 January 2022 736,132         

Additions 51,302           

At 31 December 2022 787,434         

Amortisation

At 1 January 2022 620,096         

Charge for the year 37,754           

At 31 December 2022 657,850         

Net book value 

At 31 December 2022 129,584         

At 31 December 2021 116,036         

14. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Group & Charity

Long leasehold Fixtures & Computer

property fittings equipment Total

£ £ £ £

Cost or Valuation

At 1 January 2022 710,000         111,927         48,873           870,800         

Additions -                 -                 3,244 3,244             

At 31 December 2022 710,000         111,927         52,117           874,044         

Depreciation 

At 1 January 2022 -                 102,423         48,873           151,296         

Charge for the year -                 8,305             901                9,206             

At 31 December 2022 -                 110,728         49,774           160,502         

Net book value 

At 31 December 2022 710,000         1,199             2,343             713,542         

At 31 December 2021 710,000         9,504             -                 719,504         

Revaluation of fixed assets
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The long leasehold poperty is owned under a 999 year lease from 25 December 1989.
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The Society has applied the transitional arrangements of Section 35 of FRS 102 and used a valuation with an effective date of 

1 January 2014 as the deemed cost of the long leasehold property. The valuation was performed independently on a Market 

Value basis by Altus Edwin Hill, Chartered Surveyors. The historic cost of the long leasehold property is £273,816.



15. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

2022 2021

£ £

Current assets 2                    2                    

Total Net assets 2 2                    

Called up share capital

1                    1                    

BPS Trading Services Limited (incorporated 27 January 2016) 1                    1                    

2 2                    

2022 2021

£ £

Turnover 218,210         237,397         

Expenditure 213,529         204,200         

Profit 4,681 33,197

2022 2021

£ £

Turnover 41,900           237,397         

Expenditure 40,465           204,200         

Profit 1,435 33,197

16. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

Group & Charity Listed Listed

securities securities

2022 2021

£ £

Market value

At 1 January 3,966,190      3,577,031      

Additions 1,250,798 1,148,401      

Disposals (realised gain of £134,256; 2018 £5,799) (1,316,994) (1,000,596)

Revaluations (379,166) 241,354

At 31 December 3,520,828      3,966,190      

Historical cost 3,473,674      3,382,367      

Investments at market value comprise:

UK Overseas 2022

£ £ £

Listed investments        1,013,008        2,507,820        3,520,828 

UK Overseas 2021

£ £ £

Listed investments        1,291,374        2,674,816        3,966,190 

The above investments are all in relation to unrestricted funds.
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BPS Trading Services (company number 09973456; registered office 16 

Angel Gate, City Road, London, EC1V 2PT) commenced trading on 1 

January 2022 and its turnover, expenditure and profit are summarised 

as follows:

BPS Assessment Limited (company number 09973409; registered office 

16 Angel Gate, City Road, London, EC1V 2PT) commenced trading on 

31 March 2017 and its turnover, expenditure and profit are summarised 

as follows:

BPS Assessment Limited (incorporated 27 January 2016)
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The Society's investment at the balance sheet date in the wholly-owned share capital of the following, unlisted companies, 

is as follows:



17. DEBTORS

Group Group Charity Charity

2022 2021 2022 2021

£ £ £ £

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade debtors 411,391         134,126         299,054         147,977         

Amount due from subsidiary -                 -                 -                 -                 

Other debtors 34,453           3,913             2,908             1,056             

Prepayments and accrued income 1,038,253      1,681,101      1,038,253      1,681,101      

1,484,097      1,819,140      1,340,215      1,830,134      

Amounts due after more than one year

Prepayments and accrued income -                 21,605           -                 21,605           

-                 21,605           -                 21,605           

Total Debtors 1,484,097      1,840,745      1,340,215      1,851,739      

18. CREDITORS

Amounts falling due within one year

Group Group Charity Charity

2022 2021 2022 2021

£ £ £ £

Trade creditors 324,731         157,577         233,645         115,031         

Other taxation and social security 167,571         182,938         136,027         182,938         

Other creditors 160,215         224,222         159,363         223,370         

Accruals and deferred income 600,057         272,445         118,660         148,924         

1,252,574      837,182         647,695         670,263         

Deferred income (Group & Charity)

Group Group Charity Charity

2022 2021 2022 2021

£ £ £ £

At 1 January 126,013         171,897         14,004           19,184           

Movement during the year 363,607         45,884-           44,916           5,180-             

At 31 December 489,620         126,013         58,920           14,004           

19. CREDITORS

Amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Group Charity Charity

2022 2021 2022 2021

£ £ £ £

Grant awards - A J Clark studentships 50,302           60,230           50,302           60,230           

Accruals and Deferred Income -                 8,075             -                 -                 

50,302           68,305           50,302           60,230           
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Included within other taxation and social security is an amount of £16,130 (2021 - £14,058)  in respect of pension liabilities. 

Included within other creditors is an amount of £50,301 (2021 -  £60,230) in respect of A J Clark studentship commitments, 

and £65,000 (2021 - £120,000) related to the Guide to Pharmacology grant.

The movement of deferred income, included within accruals and deferred income above is as follows:

Included within the group is £278,393 relating to BPS Trading Services (2021 - NA) and £152,307 relating to BPS 

Assessment Limited (2021 - £112,009). 
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Other debtors mainly represents journal publishing income due but unpaid at the year end.



20. PENSION COMMITMENTS

Funding Policy
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At the 31 March 2020 valuation SAUL was 94% funded on its Technical Provisions basis. However, market improvements 

following the valuation date were positive and the Trustee and the Employers agreed to allow for post-valuation experience 

up to 30 April 2021. As SAUL was in surplus on its Technical Provisions basis at that date, no deficit contributions were 

required.  However, the Trustee and the Employers have agreed that the ongoing Employers’ contributions will increase  

from a rate of 16% of CARE Salaries to 19% of CARE Salaries from 1 April 2022 and to 21% of CARE Salaries from 1 

January 2023.

The funding principles were agreed by the Trustees and employers in June 2021 and will be reviewed again at SAUL’s next 

formal valuation in 2023.

The Society participates in the Superannuation Arrangements of the University of London (“SAUL”), which is a centralised 

defined benefit scheme within the United Kingdom and is contracted-out of the Second State Pension (prior to April 2016).

Pension benefits accrued within SAUL currently build up on a Career Average Revalued Earnings (“CARE”) basis. 

SAUL is an independently-managed pension scheme for the non-academic staff of over 50 colleges and institutions with 

links to higher education.
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A formal actuarial valuation of SAUL is carried out every three years by a professionally qualified and independent actuary. 

The last actuarial valuation was carried out with an effective date of 31 March 2020. Informal reviews of SAUL’s position, 

reflecting changes in market conditions, cash flow information and new accrual of benefits, are carried out between formal 

valuations.

The Technical Provisions assumptions include appropriate margins to allow for the possibility of events turning out worse 

than expected. However, the funding method and assumptions do not completely remove the risk that the Technical 

Provisions could be insufficient to provide benefits in the future.

SAUL’s statutory funding objective is to have sufficient and appropriate assets to meet the costs incurred by the Trustee in 

paying SAUL’s benefits as they fall due (the “Technical Provisions”). The Trustee adopts assumptions which, taken as a 

whole, are intended to be sufficiently prudent for pensions and benefits already in payment to continue to be paid and for the 

commitments which arise from Members’ accrued pension rights to be met.

The Society is not expected to be liable to SAUL for any other current participating employer’s obligations under the Rules of 

SAUL, but in the event of an insolvency event of any participating employer within SAUL, an amount of any pension shortfall 

(which cannot otherwise be recovered) in respect of that employer, may be spread across the remaining participating 

employers and reflected in the next actuarial valuation.



21. STATEMENT OF FUNDS

SUMMARY OF FUNDS

Group

Brought Incoming Resources Transfers Gains / Carried

forward resources expended in / (out) (losses) forward

2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022

£ £ £ £ £ £

Designated funds 2,335,540    -               (95,192) 102,778 - 2,343,126    

General funds 4,022,445    3,986,101    (4,339,435) (127,778) (576,479) 2,964,853    

Total unrestricted funds 6,357,985    3,986,101    (4,434,627) (25,000) (576,479) 5,307,979    

Restricted funds 317,830       301,936       (159,948) 25,000 - 484,818       

Total funds 6,675,815    4,288,037    (4,594,575) - (576,479) 5,792,797    

2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021

£ £ £ £ £ £

Designated funds 2,355,391    -               (118,353) 98,502 -               2,335,540    

General funds 3,303,276    4,418,393    (3,941,784) (116,908) 359,468 4,022,445    

Total unrestricted funds 5,658,667    4,418,393    (4,060,137) (18,406) 359,468 6,357,985    

Restricted funds 352,538       104,886       (158,000) 18,406         -               317,830       

Total funds 6,011,205    4,523,279    (4,218,137) - 359,468 6,675,815    

Charity

Brought Incoming Resources Transfers Gains / Carried

forward resources expended in / (out) (losses) forward

2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022

£ £ £ £ £ £

Designated funds 2,335,540    -               (95,192) 102,778 -               2,343,126    

General funds 3,989,248    3,834,187    (4,160,442) (127,778) (576,479) 2,958,736    

Total unrestricted funds 6,324,788    3,834,187    (4,255,634) (25,000) (576,479) 5,301,862    

Restricted funds 317,830       301,936       (159,948) 25,000 -               484,818       

Total funds 6,642,618    4,136,123    (4,415,582) - (576,479) 5,786,680    

2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021

£ £ £ £ £ £

Designated funds 2,355,391    -               (118,353) 98,502 -               2,335,540    

General funds 3,299,261    4,260,012    (3,812,585) (116,908) 359,468       3,989,248    

Total unrestricted funds 5,654,652    4,260,012    (3,930,938) (18,406) 359,468       6,324,788    

Restricted funds 352,538       104,886       (158,000) 18,406         -               317,830       

Total funds 6,007,190    4,364,898    (4,088,938) - 359,468       6,642,618    
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The unrestricted general fund gains/(losses) comprises net loss on investments of £576,476 (2021 net loss of  £359,468).
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21. STATEMENT OF FUNDS (CONTINUED)

UNRESTRICTED DESIGNATED FUNDS

Group & Charity

Brought Incoming Resources Transfers Gains / Carried 

forward resources expended in / (out) (losses) forward

2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022

£ £ £ £ £ £

World Pharma 2023 500,000      - - - - 500,000      

Prizes and awards 1,000,000   - (48,232) 48,232 - 1,000,000   

Fixed Asset 835,540      - (46,960) 54,546 - 843,126      

Total Unrestricted Designated funds 2,335,540   -             (95,192) 102,778 -             2,343,126   

2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021

£ £ £ £ £ £

World Pharma 2023 500,000      -             -             - - 500,000

Prizes and awards 1,000,000   -             (40,150) 40,150 - 1,000,000

Fixed Asset 855,391      -             (78,203) 58,352 - 835,540

Total Unrestricted Designated funds 2,355,391   -             (118,353) 98,502 - 2,335,540   

UNRESTRICTED GENERAL FUNDS

Group

Brought Incoming Resources Transfers Gains / Carried 

forward resources expended in / (out) (losses) forward

2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022

£ £ £ £ £ £

Total Unrestricted General funds 4,022,445   3,986,101   (4,339,436) (127,778) (576,479) 2,964,852   

2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021

£ £ £ £ £ £

Total Unrestricted General funds 3,303,276   4,418,393   (3,941,784) (116,908) 359,468 4,022,445   

                                                             

Charity

Brought Incoming Resources Transfers Gains / Carried 

forward resources expended in / (out) (losses) forward

2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022

£ £ £ £ £ £

Total Unrestricted General funds 3,989,248   3,834,187   (4,160,442) (127,778) (576,479) 2,958,736   

2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021

£ £ £ £ £ £

Total Unrestricted General funds 3,299,261   4,260,012   (3,812,585) (116,908) 359,468 3,989,248   
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21. STATEMENT OF FUNDS (CONTINUED)

RESTRICTED FUNDS

Group & Charity Brought Incoming Resources Transfers Carried

forward resources expended in/(out) forward

2022 2022 2022 2022 2022

£ £ £ £ £

Schachter Fund 2,088         - (2,088) - -             

Gary Price Fund 7,635         - - - 7,635         

Paton Fund 3,390         - - - 3,390         

Sir Colin Dollery Clinical Pharmacology Training Award Fund -             200,000 (12,000) - 188,000     

BPS Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Prize, sponsored by AstraZeneca 2,000         2,000         

E-Learning for Healthcare "Prescribe" Initiative Fund 113,923     113,923     

Prescribing Safety Assessment 164,601     101,936 (130,610) 25,000 160,927     

Integrative Pharmacology Fund -             -             

Research Animal Sciences Education Ambassador Scheme -             -             

MRC Short Course in Translational Pharmacology Fund 18,612       (14,000) 4,612         

Other prizes and awards 5,581         (1,250) 4,331         

-             

Total Restricted funds 317,830     301,936     (159,948) 25,000       484,818     

2021 2021 2021 2021 2021

£ £ £ £ £

Schachter Fund 2,588         -             (500) 2,088         

Gary Price Fund 7,635         -             - 7,635         

Paton Fund 3,390         -             - 3,390         

Sir Colin Dollery Clinical Pharmacology Training Award Fund -             -             - - -             

BPS Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Prize, sponsored by AstraZeneca 3,000         -             (1,000) 2,000         

E-Learning for Healthcare "Prescribe" Initiative Fund 113,923     -             - 113,923     

Prescribing Safety Assessment 162,515     102,886     (125,800) 25,000 164,601     

Integrative Pharmacology Fund 1,068         -             (1,068) -             

Research Animal Sciences Education Ambassador Scheme 29,394       -             (22,800) (6,594) -             

MRC Short Course in Translational Pharmacology Fund 23,444       -             (4,832) - 18,612       

Other prizes and awards 5,581         2,000         (2,000) 5,581         

Total Restricted funds 352,538     104,886     (158,000) 18,406       317,830     

FUND TRANSFERS
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The unrestricted general fund has been used to restore the prizes and awards designated fund back to £1m with a transfer of £48,232 (2021 £40,150). Additions 

to fixed assets totalling £54,546 have been funded by the unrestricted general fund (2021 £58,352). The unrestricted general fund also supports the Prescribing 

Safety Assessment with a transfer of £25,000 (2021 £25,000). 



21. STATEMENT OF FUNDS (CONTINUED)

DESIGNATED FUNDS

World Pharma 2023

Prizes and Awards

Fixed Assets

RESTRICTED FUNDS

Schachter Fund

Gary Price Fund

Paton Fund

Sir Colin Dollery Clinical Pharmacology Training Award Fund

BPS Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Prize, sponsored by AstraZeneca
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The Society is committed to championing Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI). This fund was established in 2020 to encourage our 

community to join us in this drive and to recognise efforts being made by members to create an equal, diverse and inclusive environment, 

within the candidate’s institute, other organisations, or across institutes or organisations.

This award provides a bursary to medical students undertaking an intercalated BSc in Pharmacology. The primary aim is to support the 

discipline of Clinical Pharmacology, which can be achieved by encouraging students to pursue Clinical Pharmacology as a specialty or by 

increasing basic pharmacology skills for students pursuing a career path within Industry.

This fund was established jointly by Sir William Paton and the Society to support costs and expenses for those studying the history of 

pharmacology including ideas, techniques equipment etc. used in the development of experimental pharmacology.

This fund, in memory of the late Dr Gary Price, is funded by a single donation from GlaxoSmithKline to support lectures at Society meetings.

This is funded by donations from Mrs Ruth Schachter, provides grants to Student Members of the Society to visit other laboratories to learn 

techniques or to attend certain meetings.

The Society owns one long leasehold property in London and a variety of other fixed assets. This fund represents the net book value of such 

assets.

This fund aims to provide income and capital growth to finance a proportion of the Society’s charitable grants to individuals. The amount of 

funding required is reviewed annually.

The Society will be hosting the 2023 IUPHAR World Congress of Pharmacology, its bid to do so having been successful in July 2014, and 

£500,000 has been designated to fully underwrite the potential net cost of the event.



21. STATEMENT OF FUNDS (CONTINUED)

RESTRICTED FUNDS (CONTINUED)

E-Learning for Healthcare "Prescribe Initiative Fund"

Prescribing Safety Assessment Fund

Integrative Pharmacology Fund

Research Animal Sciences Education Ambassador Scheme

MRC Short Course in Translational Pharmacology Fund

Other prizes and awards
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From time to time the Society receives donations to enable it to provide grants or prizes related to ad hoc projects or initiatives.

Subject to the above, the Society has sufficient resources to enable these funds to be applied in accordance with their respective 

restrictions.

BRITISH PHARMACOLOGICAL SOCIETY

REGISTERED NUMBER: 2877400

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

This fund was provided by the Department of Health to facilitate payments to Society members contributing to the authoring and review of e-

learning modules being developed between the Society and Department of Health, for the 38,000 medical students who train each year in 

the UK.

This fund arose through the transfer of the balance of funds of a project initiated by the Dept. of Health. The project will now be continued by 

the Society in conjunction with the Medical Schools Council to develop an assessment for final year medical students in prescribing.

This fund which was established by AstraZeneca, GlaxoSmithKline and Pfizer, supports research and training in integrative pharmacology 

and related disciplines with the objective of building capacity and ensuring the discipline's long-term viability in the UK. 

This fund which was established by both the British Pharmacology Society and The Physiological Society, supports consistency in 

undergraduate education related to the ‘core’ and ‘experiential’ learning outcomes established by the curriculum for the use of research 

animals.

This fund was established by a capacity building grant from the Medical Research Council to enable the Society to develop and run a 

programme in 2010 in translational pharmacology that is suitable for eligible researchers from all biomedical disciplines involved in drug 

discovery and translational process.



22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

23. ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS

Group

Restricted Unrestricted Total 

funds funds funds 

2022 2022 2022

£ £ £

Intangible fixed assets - 129,584 129,584     

Tangible fixed assets - 713,542 713,542     

Investment in subsidiary - - -             

Fixed asset investments - 3,520,828 3,520,828  

Current assets 484,818 2,246,900 2,731,718  

Creditors due within one year - (1,252,574) (1,252,574)

Creditors due in more than one year - (50,302) (50,302)

484,818 5,307,979 5,792,797

Restricted Unrestricted Total 

funds funds funds 

2021 2021 2021

£ £ £

Intangible fixed assets - 116,036 116,036

Tangible fixed assets - 719,504 719,504

Investment in subsidiary - - -

Fixed asset investments - 3,966,190 3,966,190

Current assets 317,830 2,461,742 2,779,572

Creditors due within one year (837,182) (837,182)

Creditors due in more than one year - (68,305) (68,305)

317,830 6,357,985 6,675,815
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During the course of the year the Society transacted with BPS Assessment Limited and BPS Trading Services, its 

wholly-owned subsidiary undertaking. The amounts owing to and from the subsidiary are included in notes 17 and 

18.

One trustee of the British Pharmacological Society (C Williams) is also a director of ELRIG UK Limited with which 

the Society had a strategic alliance. During 2022 the Society generated income of £6,736 (2021: £8,924). The 

trustee declared their conflict of interest in all relevant meetings and did not formally vote in any Society Council 

decisions concerning the alliance.	


